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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Good

          3  afternoon, everyone. I am Council Member Hiram

          4  Monserrate, and I welcome you to today's Hearing on

          5  Committee on Veterans. Today's topic is the future

          6  of the St. Albans Veterans Affairs Medical Center,

          7  located in St. Albans, Queens.

          8                 Good afternoon.  I have the privilege

          9  and honor of Chairing the Veterans Committee, and

         10  today we will again be speaking about the St. Albans

         11  VA Medical Center.  The Center, which is located in

         12  St. Albans, serves tens of thousands of military

         13  veterans every year and has become a safe haven for

         14  veterans living within New York City.

         15                 In 2006 the VA Secretary, R. James

         16  Nicholson, announced that the St. Albans facility

         17  will be modernized with a new nursing home and

         18  outpatient facilities.  There has been some debate

         19  about what to do with the extra space created by the

         20  modernization process.  Some community advocates and

         21  elected officials, including the Mayor, have

         22  suggested using any extra space within the St.

         23  Albans property for a school or community center.

         24                 Many veterans, however, are concerned

         25  about such use of extra space.  Currently there are

                                                            4

          1  COMMITTEE ON VETERANS

          2  over 300,000 military veterans living within New

          3  York City.  There are thousands of City residents

          4  currently serving in Iraq, and Afghanistan, and

          5  other assignments through the world.  Many veterans'

          6  advocates are, therefore, concerned that there may

          7  be a future shortage of veterans' facilities to

          8  serve these returning vets, and urge caution with

          9  respect to the renovation process.

         10                 Today the Veterans Committee would

         11  like to explore the possible changes that may occur

         12  at the St. Albans facility. This Committee has

         13  invited representatives from the United States

         14  Department of Veterans Affairs, the New York State

         15  Division of Veterans Affairs, the Mayor's Office of

         16  Veterans Affairs, and several of the elected

         17  officials for the affected area.  The Committee also

         18  expects to hear this morning, or this afternoon

         19  rather, from other veteran advocates, support

         20  groups, and military veterans.

         21                 Let me say first and foremost for the

         22  record that I have in my hand a very extensive list

         23  of individuals that were invited to participate into

         24  this hearing, including all the aforementioned, and

         25  then some.  It appears that none of the agencies
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          2  that have a major role in this process are here

          3  today, which I think is extremely unfortunate,

          4  disrespectful, first and foremost, to the veterans

          5  who deserve the services at a minimum that we are

          6  committed to providing, disrespectful to the Members

          7  of this Committee, and to this Institution called

          8   "The Council of the City of New York", for not

          9  making this Body aware, and the residents of the

         10  City of New York, about all the topics that we have

         11  so many questions about.  But we do have some of the

         12  veterans' organizations and their representatives

         13  here today, and I would like to call them to testify

         14  and give their position on the ongoings at the St.

         15  Albans VA Facility.

         16                 I would like to call first Pat Toro

         17  from the Vietnam Veterans Of America.  I would like

         18  to call also, Peter Bronson, Veterans for Peace

         19  Coalition, and Mr. Jerry Alperstein from the Jewish

         20  War Veterans.  Jerry, please come on up.  If there's

         21  anyone else who wishes to testify, please inform the

         22  Sergeant-At-Arms, fill out a card, and we will

         23  immediately bring you up to testify.

         24                 Before we testify I want to

         25  acknowledge the presence of several of the Members
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          2  of the Committee who are here today.  We have

          3  Letitia James from the Borough of Brooklyn.  We have

          4  Council Member Tony Avella, who I understand again

          5  has a 100 percent attendance record, and I want to

          6  say that I have never in my life had a 100 percent

          7  attendance record at anything, though I am usually

          8  here and am prepared to work.  But I just want to

          9  say, for the record, as Chair of the Committee, we

         10  appreciate your 100 percent attendance record at

         11  this Veterans Committee Hearing, and all the others.

         12    So thank you Council Member Tony Avella from

         13  Queens.  We also want to acknowledge Council Member

         14  Nelson from the great Borough of Brooklyn, and also

         15  Council Member Lewis Fidler, to our right, Chair of

         16  our distinguished Committee, also.

         17                 So, gentlemen, please proceed.

         18  Testify first your name, the organization you

         19  represent, and please try to limit your comments to

         20  three minutes.  Thank you very much.

         21                 MR. TORO:  Good afternoon.  My name

         22  is Pat Toro. I'm President of the Vietnam Veterans

         23  of America, Queens Chapter 32, in the Borough of

         24  Queens.

         25                 I'd like to just give a quick update.
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          2    On January 22nd, I attended the last hearing in

          3  St. Albans pertaining to what was exactly going to

          4  take place at that facility.  It was the fourth and

          5  final CARES meeting, which was held at St. Albans

          6  Medical Center.  Also attending were various

          7  veterans organizations, some local politicians

          8  and/or their representatives, and community

          9  residents of the St. Albans community.  It is to be

         10  noted that all plans that were put forward were

         11  considered conceptual and subject to changes.  Funds

         12  for this project are being considered for the 2009

         13  Budget process, with possible occupation in the

         14  2012- 2013 time period.

         15                 The following is a brief breakdown of

         16  the service that we provided.  Nursing care unit

         17  with 137,000 square feet, 180 beds; domiciliary,

         18  26,500 square feet, 40 beds, which were supposed to

         19  be placed on top of the nursing unit; ambulatory,

         20  152,000 square feet, with services as follows:

         21  Audiology and speech, cardiology, dental, eye,

         22  mental health, prosthetics, pulmonary medicine, and

         23  rehabilitation medicine, also diagnostic services,

         24  which is radiology, ambulatory surgery, pharmacy,

         25  and adult day care.
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          2                 The plans call for the buildings to

          3  be set aside for a laundry and shuttle area.  Also,

          4  buildings 88, 89, 90, 91, 93, and 168, are to be

          5  torn down.  It was further stated that in excess of

          6  the 25 acres of St. Albans property, would then be

          7  available for the Enhanced- Use Lease Program.  This

          8  basically means that these areas will be leased for

          9  the community reuse as part of the arrangement with

         10  the community.  Any "improvements" may be made

         11  available for veterans preference.  It is to be

         12  noted that it says "may" and not "must", and I

         13  personally have a big problem with that.  It is in

         14  this writer's opinion that this plan is neglect in

         15  several areas.  These areas include the omission of

         16  the following, a veterans hospice facility, a

         17  woman's veteran domiciliary, and a veteran's

         18  assisted living facility.  In several of the

         19  previous CARES' meetings, the above areas were

         20  brought to the attention of the Advisory Panel, yet

         21  they have been omitted.

         22                 Furthermore, when questioned as to

         23  why it was necessary to lease away property that

         24  already belongs to the Veterans' community, it was

         25  stated that the Enhanced- Use Lease Program would
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          2  provide additional monies to complete the St. Albans

          3  modernization.  At no time was it explained how the

          4  veteran could be guaranteed that these additional

          5  monies would be spent on St. Albans facilities and

          6  not on any future VA projects like something that

          7  may go on in Seattle.

          8                 There is also a question of

          9  expansion.  As this Country continues to be at war,

         10  the question arises as to whether we will have the

         11  facilities to provide the medical services that our

         12  brothers and sisters will be in need of.  It was

         13  stated by panel members that, if necessary, the

         14  plans could be expanded at a later date.  Where

         15  would the expansion take place if the excess land

         16  was no longer available?  There seems to be a great

         17  concern to a lot of the St. Albans' community to

         18  have a say in the future plans of any excess

         19  property that may be available for reuse.  This

         20  concern appears to be stronger than that of the

         21  concern of the veterans, what the veterans feel is

         22  needed at the St. Albans Medical Center.  Though I

         23  understand the need for community input, I believe

         24  that the veterans' input should be placed above all.

         25  After all it is on the backs of all veterans that
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          2  will rise or fall as a result of these plans.

          3                 Now, I sent this out to all the

          4  elected officials in the Borough of Queens shortly

          5  after this meeting.  I think that the biggest

          6  insult, there were several insults, I feel as a

          7  veterans is

          8  when I attend these meeting having to do with the

          9  VA, and I walk in and they hand me two sheets of

         10  paper of what they're going to talk about, but then

         11  they put 40 graphs up on the screen and explain it

         12  like we're idiots and we don't know what's going on,

         13  and then when you questions them, they seem to

         14  dance.  Okay.  We had, myself and a lot of other

         15  veterans' organizations, had spoken about the fact

         16  that we needed a veterans' hospice at that facility.

         17    We needed a women's dom.  In this day and age when

         18  women in the military are now participating in

         19  battle, and they come back, and I've already seen

         20  several stories of women who have come back and were

         21  homeless. There should be a place for them aside and

         22  separate from the men's domiciliary.  We have the

         23  land, there is the property, yet they cutback on the

         24  amount of beds supposedly in the renovation for the

         25  men's dom, they cutback on the amount of beds in the
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          2  nursing.  I don't understand how you can cutback on

          3  anything with the fact that this County is still at

          4  war.

          5                 Now, there was talk about building a

          6  school, which the Mayor, who in my opinion and I've

          7  said this before, does absolutely nothing for the

          8  veterans of this City except wave a little flag when

          9  he marches in a parade, came forward and said that

         10  he was all for this school.  The Mayor seems to be

         11   "all for" for a lot of things that he knows nothing

         12  about.  If you're going to put a school there, then

         13  attach it to your college, make it a nursing school,

         14  and workout a program with the VA where the nurses

         15  who graduate there can now go and work for the VA

         16  for a couple of years.  But nobody seems to be

         17  interested in any of the ideas. When Congressman

         18  Meeks held a forum, a Veterans Forum, a little over

         19  a month ago at St. Albans, I think he was

         20  overwhelmed and he didn't want to discuss St.

         21  Albans.  I brought it to their attention, you could

         22  not discuss anything at St. Albans without talking

         23  about what takes place in that facility.  Things

         24  need to be done, and I haven't hear from anybody.  I

         25  haven't heard from any elected officials, anybody
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          2  who has come back and said, listen, we need to talk,

          3  we need to let me know, with the exception, I

          4  believe of Assemblywoman Huntley, who I have an

          5  appointment with in a couple of weeks.  Excuse me?

          6  State Senator? Oh, I'm sorry.  I stand corrected.

          7  You guys change so much that sometimes its hard for

          8  me to tell.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  For the

         10  record, she's newly elected.

         11                 MR. TORO:  I know, it's hard enough

         12  writing the letters when I have to send them out.

         13                 But this is something that needs to

         14  be addressed. We had a meeting with Congressman

         15  Crowley last Wednesday and we spent a lot of time

         16  speaking about this.  There's a lot of things that

         17  we need, and I can understand, like I said, the

         18  community's concern, but we need to get what we need

         19  for the veterans first. The three things I

         20  mentioned, the hospice, the women's dom, and the

         21  assisted living, are very important to us.  When I

         22  have to sit there in a meeting, and this happened,

         23  and have one of our elected officials mention the

         24  fact that one of the plans that called for St.

         25  Albans was as a funeral home on the outskirts, and
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          2  they're looking for easement rights onto the

          3  property to build a parking lot, when that's

          4  actually being considered, then there's something

          5  wrong.  There's something wrong when some of our

          6  elected officials decide that that makes sense and

          7  should be looked into.  What makes sense and what

          8  should be looked into is what the veterans need and

          9  what we've always needed, and that's to be treated

         10  fair.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 MR. ALPERSTEIN:  Hi.  I am Jerry

         13  Alperstein, the Legislative Committee Chairman of

         14  the Jewish War Veterans in the State of New York.

         15  My remarks will probably go a little more than three

         16  minutes.

         17                 While I agree with everything Pat

         18  Toro mentioned, I'm going to talk about something

         19  different, which will also explain why all those

         20  people you invited didn't show up.  It's because

         21  those of us who have been following things know

         22  what's going on.  There are two realities, which I

         23  will explain to you. But before I start, I just want

         24  you to correct your records, it's the St. Albans

         25  Primary and Extended Care Center.  We all wish it
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          2  was a medical center, but it's not.  It's basically

          3  an outpatient clinic and a nursing home for

          4  veterans.

          5                 But now let me get to those two

          6  realities.  Mr. Nicholson, the Secretary of Veterans

          7  Affairs, has a Special Assistant for CARES, his name

          8  is Jay Halpern.  In the Department of Veterans

          9  Affairs, they have an office for the Re- Use

         10  Program, which is the renting out of veterans

         11  program, her name, the Director of that office, is

         12  Karen Williams.  Then there are real estate

         13  consultants out of Chicago, which were hired by

         14  Halpern and Williams, and all three are saying that

         15  the reuse should be for assisted living housing.

         16  So, everybody knows that's what Nicholson is going

         17  to recommend.

         18                 So, with all due respect to your

         19  colleague Mr. Comrie and to Congressman Meeks, the

         20  school, the easement for the parking lot, the

         21  hospital, all these other things that Mr. Wolcott

         22  and the Mayor, with the school, they're not going to

         23  happen. That's why no one is here.  We know that

         24  what's going to come out of Nicholson is going to be

         25  what his paid consultants and his hand picked
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          2  leaders say, which is that Nicholson is going to

          3  propose that our 25 acres of the St. Albans campus,

          4  assisted living, a lease for 50 to 60 years be put

          5  out to a developer to build assisted living housing.

          6    That's the first reality.  The second reality is

          7  that all Nicholson can do is recommend.  The power

          8  to do that is with Congress.

          9                 Now, the Re- Use Program affecting

         10  the State of New York is not just at St. Albans.  It

         11  is at least in two other places.  One is at

         12  Montrose, which is near Peekskill in northern

         13  Westchester, and the other is at Canandaigua, out in

         14  western New York.

         15                 Now, last month I met with

         16  Congressman Hall, who is the only Member of the New

         17  York Delegation on the House Veterans Affairs

         18  Committee.  Montrose is in his District.  He said

         19  publicly in front of a group of us that he is

         20  against any renting, selling, or giving away of VA

         21  property for non- veterans' uses.

         22                 One of the stories in Washington that

         23  has gone under the radar screen is that probably the

         24  second- most powerful member of the House of

         25  Representatives is Louise Slaughter, who is the
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          2  Congress Member out in western New York.  She is

          3  Chair of the Rules Committee.  When I met with her

          4  staff members last month, Canandaigua by the way is

          5  just outside of her District and many of her members

          6  use it, I told them that these were the plans that

          7  the VA had for Canandaigua.  It set off alarms

          8  there.  I met with either members, or staff, of

          9  nine, last month of the Congressional Delegation of

         10  New York.  Most of them had no knowledge of this

         11  Re- Use Program, and when they heard about it, were

         12  very negative.

         13                 So, let's get to the second reality,

         14  that next year there will probably be a proposal

         15  from the Administration for the assisted living.

         16  It's going to be going against or into a New York

         17  Congressional Delegation, which is going to be

         18  against it, coming from an Administration in the

         19  lamest of its lame duck years.

         20                 So in all probability, nothing is

         21  going to happen with this, which means in 2009,

         22  we're going to be back to square one with 25

         23  available acres and then this is a time where you

         24  might be able to weigh in on many of the things that

         25  Mr. Toro, here to my right, has talked about.
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          2                 Thank you very much.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  I have a few

          4  questions to ask, but I'm going to let the next

          5  panelist go.

          6                 MR. BRONSON:  My name is Peter

          7  Bronson, and I'm with the Coalition of Veterans in

          8  Pain and Distress, and past President of the New

          9  York City Chapter of Veterans for Peace.

         10                 Pat and Jerry, I was at the meeting

         11  with them, and they've pretty much covered it.  The

         12  only thing I want to add is that I spoke to Karen

         13  Wheeler (phonetic) after the meeting and privately.

         14  When I brought it up, she agreed that the whole idea

         15  of the reuse, first of all it's not a slam dunk that

         16  that land is extra to begin with, and second of all,

         17  the idea of the reuse thing, rental usage to get the

         18  money to fix the hospital, isn't necessary.

         19  Congress could just as well appropriate the money

         20  and authorize the VA to do it themselves.

         21                 So, I really address that because

         22  that comes on the heels of us seeking mandatory

         23  health care.  All of our programs seem to be, along

         24  with appropriation bills, subject to port barrel

         25  (phonetic) items and things like that.  So that even
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          2  leaves us further behind, and that's really all I

          3  have to add to that.  Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Thank you

          5  gentlemen for your testimony.

          6                 First of all I'd like to say to Mr.

          7  Alperstein, who recently received an award from the

          8  Jewish War Veterans, I just want to say thank you

          9  for that recognition.  And thank you for your

         10  organization's advocacy on issues that are important

         11  to not just Jewish veterans, but to all veterans.

         12                 The only thing I wanted to ask, is it

         13  seems that the three of you have been very active in

         14  reaching out to the respective agencies, respective

         15  agencies and the elected officials that represent

         16  that surrounding area, has any of the feedback that

         17  you receive from their offices I'm imagining does

         18  not specifically state exclusivity for veterans

         19  facilities and/or services.  Is that not correct?

         20                 MR. TORO: That's correct.  That

         21  letter that I read to you, like I said several days

         22  after January 22nd was mailed to all elected

         23  officials in the Borough of Queens, not just the

         24  ones surrounding the area of St. Albans, because I

         25  believe all elected officials, especially because
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          2  that is the VA facility that is housed in Queens,

          3  should be interested in what's going on there and

          4  what's happening.  I received no response from

          5  anyone on that.  I'm very disappointed in Congress.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  That letter

          7  was sent to whom?

          8                 MR. TORO:  To all elected officials

          9  in the Borough of Queens.  I sent it myself, mailed

         10  it personally myself.  Okay.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  I assume

         12  that you're not concerned about my response record.

         13                 MR. TORO:  Well no.  I mean, I know

         14  how you feel. I think I know how mostly everybody on

         15  the panel feels.  I just wanted to bring them up-

         16  to- date as to what is going on in St. Albans.  I

         17  mean, there's a lot of problems there.  Congressman

         18  Meeks had assigned me to the task force with the

         19  community.  I was getting invitations to the

         20  meetings until they knew how I felt, and all of a

         21  sudden either they're not meeting anymore or I'm not

         22  getting any more invitations- something to do with

         23  it.  But, it's something that has to be looked into.

         24

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Before you
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          2  go further, this is my questions.  The task force

          3  was established by who?  The Congressman?

          4                 MR. TORO:  Congressman Meeks has a

          5  task force of community people from that area who

          6  are looking, trying to decide what they want to do

          7  with this excess property when it becomes available.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  How many

          9  veterans' organizations or reps are on that task

         10  force?

         11                 MR. TORO:  I have no idea.  I know

         12  when I was there I was one of two.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  And how many

         14  people in total are on that task force?

         15                 MR. TORO:  I would say there was

         16  about, at that meeting, there had to be about 15 or

         17  20.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  About 15 or

         19  20 people and two of you were veteran?

         20                 MR. TORO:  Right.  But the only one

         21  that was really speaking against the handing out of

         22  the property, were the two veterans, myself and a

         23  member from the DAV.  The problem is that, again we

         24  seem to yell and we seem to scream, but nobody's

         25  paying attention.  They've decided that this is what
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          2  they're going to do, and I just don't understand.  I

          3  don't understand how this Country can be at war, and

          4  have what's going on, and what's going on at Walter

          5  Reed, which I'll be damned if I'm going to allow it

          6  to happen in this City, with any VA facility, and

          7  they're talking about cutting back, cutting back on

          8  beds, cutting back on areas that we need.

          9                 One of the things, real quick, that

         10  came about at one of the CARES hearings, and myself

         11  and the VVA National President, John Rowan,

         12  testified on it, was that when the CARES came out

         13  they didn't know what they were going to do with St.

         14  Albans.  It wasn't going to be knocked down, but

         15  they didn't know to what degree they were going to

         16  build it up when they renovated, because they didn't

         17  know what was going to happen with the other two

         18  hospitals.  One of the points that they kept trying

         19  to make was that there is very little dentistry that

         20  goes on at St. Albans. There's very little eye work

         21  being done at St. Albans.  Well the whole reason for

         22  that is because they keep channeling it and sending

         23  it to Fort Hamilton.  They don't keep it there.  We

         24  have an outpatient clinic on Queens Boulevard, and I

         25  believe it's 39th Street, all right, that doesn't
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          2  even fall in the Queens stats.  It goes to the

          3  Bronx.  So those stats that come out of that clinic

          4  are not even included in any of the stats as far as

          5  when these VA facilities are used, because it only

          6  shows up on the Bronx stats.

          7                 MR. ALPERSTEIN:  If I could just add

          8  a little  --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Yes, sir.

         10                 MR. ALPERSTEIN:  --  Historical

         11  perspective, without going very back, just a few

         12  months.  What happened is that some people in the

         13  St. Albans community when they realized that Mr.

         14  Nicholson had plans for leasing things out, they

         15  started becoming very vocal.  Then this is what got

         16  the interest of Congressman Meeks and Council Member

         17  Comrie responding to the thoughts and aspirations of

         18  their constituents, but this is really posturing to

         19  the constituents more so because, as I stated

         20  earlier, Mr. Halpern, Ms. Williams, and the Chicago

         21  Consultants have already made it very clear the

         22  direction that the VA wants to go in, which is the

         23  assisted living housing and not the laundry list of

         24  things that the task force, and the Mayor, and Mr.

         25  Wolcott, and others have been proposing.
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          2                 MR. TORO:  I just want to add

          3  something on that assisted living.  When I first met

          4  with the task force and that was brought up, my

          5  question to the task force was, there whole point

          6  was, they can build an assisted living and the

          7  veterans may have use of it.

          8                 So, I said, "Well, exactly how does

          9  that work? Because if you put in a hundred- bed

         10  assisted living, and 50 is for the community and 50

         11  is for veterans, and the veterans have their 50 beds

         12  occupied, and the community has 45 of theirs

         13  occupied, and now we have a veteran in distress who

         14  needs a place, will the community be willing to give

         15  up one of their beds for this veteran?"  Nobody had

         16  an answer.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Do one of

         18  you Members of Panel think  --  how long has that

         19  facility been there at St. Albans?

         20                 MR. ALPERSTEIN:  I think the details

         21  on that, I'd like to introduce Jay Kaatz, who will

         22  be State Commander of the Jewish War Veterans  --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Jay, why

         24  don't you come up?

         25                 MR. ALPERSTEIN:  --  In two months.
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          2  He can tell you about the history of the facility

          3  much better than I can.

          4                 MR. KAATZ:  My name is Jason A.

          5  Kaatz.  I am the Senior Vice Commander of the State

          6  of New York, and I'm a member of the National

          7  Executive Committee of the Jewish War Veterans in

          8  Washington.

          9                 I use the St. Albans facility.  I use

         10  the VA facility in Brooklyn.  I have no complaints

         11  about the care.  As a matter of fact, they take very

         12  good care of us.  We don't have an argument with

         13  care.  What we do have an argument with, is that I'm

         14  a resident of Queens County for 65 years this year,

         15  same address, except for my years in the military.

         16  This facility originally was a Naval Base, as

         17  everyone knows.  It was roughly, I believe,

         18  somewhere in the area of 155 acres originally.  55

         19  acres was turned over to the VA, and the remainder

         20  of the land was turned over to the City of New York.

         21    Somewhere along the line, and I don't understand

         22  how this came about, because usually the agency for

         23  disposal of property in the United States Government

         24  is the GSA, and the VA never notified the GSA that

         25  it was their intent to give up any land or anything
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          2  else.  That's generally the way it works.

          3                 Number two, this business with the

          4  school was relatively new to us.  We didn't hear

          5  anything about it. Truthfully, I don't think the

          6  Mayor even knew about it initially. Certainly the

          7  Planning Board of the City of New York did not know

          8  about it.  The Chancellor's Office and the Board of

          9  Education knew of no proposal for a school there.

         10  Frank Padavan, who is the Chairman of the Committee

         11  on Cities I guess, State Senator, I'm sorry, advised

         12  me that they already have a school, that they really

         13  didn't need a school there.

         14                 So, all this is new.  They pulled

         15  this on, this was an overnight thing.  They walked

         16  in pulled up a site plan for a school for which

         17  nobody in the City of New York knew about except the

         18  Deputy Mayor, which I find strange, especially the

         19  Planning Boards.  I think maybe the Mayor probably

         20  was taken by surprise also.

         21                 The issue here is, this is federal

         22  land.  Initially when it was turned over by the

         23  Military to the Veterans Administration, the

         24  agreement that was made at the time was that it

         25  would be used for a medical center.  Ultimately,
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          2  that phase of the plan did not get instituted.  The

          3  place ultimately turned into an extended care

          4  center, with some 400 beds, which was needed.  The

          5  beds were filled up until about two or three years

          6  ago when the VA took roughly 100 or so or 200

          7  patients, I don't recall the exact figures, and

          8  scooted them into private nursing homes in Queens.

          9  There is a census there I believe, roughly around

         10  168.  What I believe was happening here is that

         11  there was a game being played here to get it down to

         12  less than 150 or 150- 160 patients, and then turn

         13  over the excess land for private purposes.

         14                 I have voiced my opinion to Congress

         15  and to the VA continually that I look at this plan

         16  as nothing but a scam because part of the plan was

         17  to bring industry into the facility, also rent out

         18  buildings, rent out space to the community or

         19  corporations or medical corporations, and in return

         20  for a 50 year lease or whatever, they would build

         21  housing and offer that housing up.  When we

         22  questioned Mr. Alpurn (phonetic) on the issue of

         23  housing, and also, I don't remember the gentleman's

         24  name, but one of the gentlemen who was a developer

         25  who came in there from Chicago, they could not even
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          2  guarantee 10 percent of the facility or the proposed

          3  new housing would be used for veterans, which is

          4  terrible.

          5                 We have one of the largest

          6  populations next to San Francisco and L.A. of

          7  homeless veterans in the Country and no place to put

          8  them.  Some of them are being housed right now at

          9  the VA Center because there is a rehab program there

         10  for veterans that have gone through an outpatient

         11  type situation, have been accepted into the

         12  facility, and have signed essentially a contract

         13  that they will abide by the rules of rehabilitation

         14  and everything else. They are very successful with

         15  that program.  Jay Cap (phonetic) runs one of them.

         16  The VA runs the other program.  But the point being

         17  is, we don't see anything material by turning that

         18  land over to a developer, a private developer.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Right.

         20                 MR. KAATZ:  Now, there is nothing in

         21  the VA regulations or in Federal law that I know of

         22  that says you must give veterans so many units of

         23  housing if they turn it over to private developers.

         24  In fact, the developer told us that they don't have

         25  to turn anything over.  Now the VA, their
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          2  representative on reuse, has indicated that they

          3  would, that provisions would be made for a

          4  substantial number of units.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Right.

          6                 MR. KAATZ:  Yet there's nothing in

          7  the law.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  I'm going to

          9  interject for a minute.  So, how long has the

         10  facility been there?  You said it was original?

         11                 MR. KAATZ:  Oh, at least before the

         12  Vietnam War.  I mean it goes back.  Originally it

         13  was a Naval Base.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  I think it

         15  goes back to World War II, doesn't it?

         16                 MR. KAATZ:  Yes.  The place was

         17  turned over shortly around 1979 or 80.  I think '79

         18  or '80, '81.  It was when the Navy signed the

         19  contract.  It was turned over as a Federal facility

         20  for use to make sure the VA had  --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Let me just

         22  interject here.

         23                 MR. KAATZ:  -- Yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Counsel to

         25  the Committee just pointed out that it was
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          2  constructed in 1950 as a Naval Hospital.

          3                 MR. KAATZ:  Right.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Right.

          5  Since 1950 they've been serving veterans, returning

          6  veterans, or active duty personnel.

          7                 MR. KAATZ:  Right.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  And it was a

          9  Naval Base before that.

         10                 MR. KAATZ:  Correct.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  During that

         12  whole time, it has been exclusively used either for

         13  military or for veterans' purposes?

         14                 MR. KAATZ:  Up until now.  Until the

         15  City acquired the additional land.  The one thing

         16  that we don't understand, the City has acquired so

         17  much land there they've made very poor utilization

         18  of it.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  What have

         20  they done with it since?

         21                 MR. KAATZ:  Well, one part of it is a

         22  park.  Part of it is a farm that's used three months

         23  out of the year to grow some crops for the local

         24  community.  But there's plenty of room outside that

         25  gate for schools and other scenarios.
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          2                 MR. ALPERSTEIN:  Jay, hold up.  Just

          3  let me clarify. The St. Albans Military Base was

          4  divided when they closed down the hospital.  They

          5  gave about two- thirds of the land to the City and

          6  about one- third of the land to the VA.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Right.

          8                 MR. ALPERSTEIN:  So, just to clarify

          9  what Jay has just, and I'll give the mike back to

         10  him, is that when he's talking about the park and

         11  the farm, he's talking about the two- thirds of the

         12  Military Base that was given to the City.

         13                 MR. KAATZ:  In other words, they

         14  already have more than a sufficient amount of space

         15   --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Right.

         17                 MR. KAATZ:  --  To build colleges,

         18  schools, and any kind of scenario they want.  They

         19  don't have to intrude onto that place.  Okay?  We

         20  saw an unfortunate situation the last three or four

         21  years when, well even before that, it goes back

         22  somewhat to the Clinton Administration, a lot of

         23  this came about because of the Al Gore Bill.

         24  Everybody here knows about the Al Gore Bill.  The Al

         25  Gore Bill said the Government must downsize.  The
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          2  military must downsize,  They sure as hell did, and

          3  in the process of that downsizing, we ended up in a

          4  war. Unfortunately, nobody immunized the VA from the

          5  Closure Commissions.

          6                 So, the VA had to comply with the Al

          7  Gore Bill, which was passed by Congress and

          8  essentially downsize, consolidate, and whatever.

          9  This is what this has resulted in.  They downsized

         10  the facility, but are they downsizing it for the

         11  benefit of the veterans?  I don't think so.  They

         12  want to build a new facility there.  It will

         13  probably be a 200- 250- bed facility.  It should

         14  have remained a 400- bed facility.  Why?  Because

         15  one of the purposes of the VA and maintaining the VA

         16  is that in case of war, you have a facility to bring

         17  casualties back to.  Okay?  We're not getting that

         18  many back into St. Albans because it is a long- term

         19  care facility, but that's the purpose of the

         20  facility.  My understanding is there has been no

         21  change in the accreditation for the facility. It's

         22  either a 250- bed facility now or a 400- bed

         23  facility. But you have to understand, we have lost

         24  200 patients who have been put into private nursing

         25  homes who should not have gone to private nursing
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          2  homes at all.  They didn't even have the right of

          3  appeal in this City.  The VA didn't even offer them

          4  the right of appeal.  So, we have a lot of veterans

          5  occupying spaces like Hillcrest and Waterview.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  I have

          7  another question. In essence, I guess what I'm

          8  gathering from your testimony today and the

          9  gentleman that was here, is that your position is

         10  that the properties today, which are owned by the

         11  Veterans Administration, any future developments

         12  and/or use should be exclusively for veterans?

         13                 MR. KAATZ:  There is going to be

         14  housing there.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Is that

         16  correct?

         17                 MR. TORO:  That's correct.

         18                 MR. KAATZ:  If there's going to be

         19  housing there, it should be either for Veterans  --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  And that

         21  position is not only your individual position but

         22   --

         23                 MR. KAATZ:   Yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  --  Not only

         25  your individual position, but the position of your
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          2  respective organizations.

          3                 MR. TORO:  Yes.  I think that you'll

          4  find that all veterans' organizations are in support

          5  of that.

          6                 Now, especially at a time, and I've

          7  said this in other Committee Hearings, when 50

          8  percent of our homeless are veterans, and 50 percent

          9  of that 50 percent are Vietnam Veterans, so here we

         10  are 40 years later, Vietnam Veterans are still

         11  dealing with the homeless issue.  Now who is to say

         12  that 40 years from now your Iraq Veterans are not

         13  also dealing with that issue.

         14                 So, if you want to use that property

         15  for use, why can't you build homes for the homeless.

         16    We have the property. That property should be used

         17  by what the veteran needs before what the community

         18  needs.  I'm sorry, and I know I'll probably  --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  And those

         20  views they are not exclusive because veterans are

         21  part of the community.

         22                 MR. TORO:  Exactly.  Exactly.  I mean

         23  this is being used by a lot, and all I see when I go

         24  to these meeting is how they want to renovate St.

         25  Albans, but they're also downsizing it, and I don't
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          2  understand how they can do that.

          3                 MR. ALPERSTEIN:  Also, Jay mentioned

          4  about the Department of Defense.  One of the little

          5  known factors is that, all right, everybody knows

          6  what the first role of the VA is, is to care for

          7  veterans.  But, I forget off- hand immediately what

          8  second and third are, but the fourth role of the VA

          9  is to handle overflow from the Department of Defense

         10  Hospitals.

         11                 Now, if you take available VA land

         12  and put it on 50, 60, or 75 year leases, and 75 is

         13  the maximum under the law, you take away the ability

         14  of the VA to expand.  The VA can always expand on

         15  its property, but if you lease it out you take away

         16  one of the roles that Congress has given it.

         17                 So, for instance, if you, if there

         18  were facilities built, the type of facility that Pat

         19  here is talking about, and you had an overflow of

         20  people that needed to be hospitalized, those same

         21  facilities could be used for that overflow.

         22                 So, there's all sorts of good that

         23  can come by not following what the current

         24  Administration wants to.  From the way politics is

         25  playing out and the way that the reality is, they're
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          2  probably not going to get very far with this reuse

          3  thing next year, but we have to be on top of.

          4                 MR. KAATZ:  There is an important

          5  issue to note here.  This commission Congressman

          6  Meeks started is all well and fine, they can have

          7  all the commissions that they want.  The point is,

          8  is that facility was there to service veterans in

          9  Queens. There are about 25- 35,000 veterans in

         10  Queens, not counting the guys from under the 77th

         11  Command, which are scattered all between Iraq and

         12  Afghanistan at the moment.

         13                 They never put a medical center

         14  there.  In order for me to get my, I'm service

         15  connected, I'm a Vietnam Vet, I flew combat missions

         16  over there, I got hurt, fine.  I have no beef about

         17  it.  Those are the risks you take in the military,

         18  but what really annoys me is that I have to travel

         19  29 miles for a medical appointment to the Brooklyn

         20  VA, which happens to be a very good facility.  I

         21  have no argument with the care there.  In order for

         22  me to get a parking space there for a 10:00 or a

         23  9:00 appointment, I have to leave my house in

         24  northeast Queens at 5:30 in the morning, and be

         25  there no later than 6:30- 6:45 in order to get a

                                                            36

          1  COMMITTEE ON VETERANS

          2  parking space.  Okay?  I have to drive in traffic

          3  that may at that hour of the morning take as much as

          4  35 to 45 minutes to two hours to get to that

          5  facility.  That is a problem.

          6                 Other people may have to travel just

          7  as long, or just as hard, navigate the subways or

          8  bus, or access a ride getting to the Manhattan VA,

          9  but we in Queens do not have a medical facility.

         10  Okay?  And St. Albans, originally the purpose of it

         11  being turned over by the Navy, originally, was for a

         12  medical facility to service an estimated 25- 30,000

         13  veterans living in the County.

         14                 Now, what the census is as of today,

         15  I don't know, unless the Planning Board has

         16  information based on homeowners or other

         17  information, or Social Security has it.  But, the

         18  point is, we never got that medical facility.  We

         19  have a limited clinic, we have a fantastic

         20  rehabilitation place there for O.T. and P.T. There.

         21  We have a relatively small clinic an ophthalmology

         22  clinic, which is tasked very very well, but all the

         23  major specialties that a veteran might need, he will

         24  have to travel to Brooklyn or to Manhattan for, or

         25  to the Bronx, and I don't think we should have to do
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          2  that.

          3                 Right now it's very hard to say how

          4  many of our people use Brooklyn, how many use

          5  Manhattan, how many are up in the Bronx.  I travel

          6  to all three facilities in the course of my duties

          7  for my organizations, and I hear all kinds of

          8  complaints just walking in the door no matter what

          9  time of the day it is.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  I'd like to

         11  thank the three of you for your testimony this

         12  afternoon.

         13                 MR. ALPERSTEIN:  You are welcome.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  The only

         15  thing that I would encourage you all to do, and all

         16  the organizations, and I think that no one could

         17  argue against your positioning that Veterans

         18  Administration property should be used exclusively

         19  for the service of veterans, that should be their

         20  primary focus and their goal to continue to

         21  communicate not only to your local elected

         22  officials, but I would suggest that you communicate

         23  this message to every member of the Congressional

         24  Delegation in the State of New York, because they

         25  all will have something to say, and I assume will
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          2  take a vote on this at some point.

          3                 So, I would suggest that you do that

          4  and deal with the local elected officials and all of

          5  them to make sure that all of us, and I say all of

          6  us, all the elected officials are clear where the

          7  veterans' organizations stand.  I think that

          8  sometimes we might assume that the elected officials

          9  know that, don't assume that.  You should

         10  communicate with all of them individually to ensure

         11  that your message is heard.  Thank you very much.

         12                 I don't see anyone else on the

         13  witness list, so I assume that we will now be

         14  closing the Committee Hearing.

         15                 Once again, I'd like to thank the

         16  Veterans' Organizations that participated.  Again,

         17  unfortunately, the majority of the individuals who

         18  should have been here to testify, are not here and

         19  that's unfortunate.  But we are going to close

         20  today's Hearing of the Veterans Committee.  Thank

         21  you.

         22                 (Hearing concluded at 2:00 p.m.)
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